IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WPH ARCHITECTURE, INC., a Nevada Corporation,) No. 54389 Electronically Filed
Appellant,) May 04 201Ó 03:34 p.m.) OPEN™∂CiPR KE kindeman)
vs.)
EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT and THE HONORABLE JESSIE WALSH,)))
Respondent,)
and)
VEGAS VP, LP, a Nevada Limited Partnership,)))
Real Party in Interest)

APPELLANT, WPH ARCHITECTURE, INC.'S OPENING BRIEF

JEAN A. WEIL, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 006532
TREVOR O. RESURRECCION, ESQ.,
Nevada Bar No. 011253
WEIL & DRAGE, APC
6085 West Twain Avenue, Suite 203
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
(702) 314-1905
(702) 314-1909 – FAX
Attorneys for Appellant,
WPH ARCHITECTURE, INC.

1

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court's exercise of jurisdiction in this matter is proper. Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") 38.247(1)(c) provides that an appeal may be taken from an order confirming or denying confirmation of an arbitration award. NRS 38.247(2) provides that such an appeal must be taken from an order or a judgment in a civil action.

The Eighth Judicial District Court ("District Court") previously denied WPH's motion to, among other things, confirm in part, modify or correct an arbitration award involving Real Party in Interest, Vegas VP, LP ("Vegas VP"). Notice of Entry of the District Court's first Order was served on July 24, 2009 and filed on July 27, 2009.

However, the District Court failed to otherwise confirm the remainder of the arbitration award. WPH subsequently filed a motion to clarify pursuant to the provisions of NRS 38.241(4) and NRS 38.242(2), and the District Court issued a second Order confirming the arbitration award. Notice of Entry of the District Court's second Order was filed and served on July 23, 2009. Thus, WPH appeals the District Court's Order denying its motion to, among other things, confirm in part, modify or correct the arbitration award. To the extent that the second Order confirming the arbitration award grants WPH standing to appeal, it appeals from the second Order.

WPH's appeal in this matter is timely. WPH's Notice of Appeal was filed on August 19, 2009. Pursuant to NRAP Rule 4(a)(1), WPH's Notice of Appeal was filed no later than 30 days after the dates that both written Notices of Entry of Order appealed from were served (July 24, 2009 and July 23, 2009, respectively).

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This appeal presents an issue of first impression in Nevada. The principal issue in this appeal is whether Nevada's offers of judgment statutes, as set forth in Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure ("NRCP") Rule 68 and NRS 17.115, apply to arbitration proceedings venued in Nevada when (i) an agreement provides that arbitration proceedings are governed by the laws of the Nevada, (ii) the project which is the subject of the dispute is located in Nevada, and (iii) throughout the entirety of the arbitration proceedings, including the prehearing and hearing briefings, the parties and the arbitration panel cited, relied upon, and applied Nevada law. This Court's review includes whether the arbitration panel exceeded its powers, arbitrarily and capriciously ignored the architectural agreement or manifestly disregarded the law. It is clear that had Vegas VP filed suit in the Clark County District Court, then NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115 would apply.¹

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dispute arises out of a contract wherein Vegas VP engaged WPH to perform architectural services for a mid-rise condominium project known as the Metropolis Lofts and

Flats located in Las Vegas, Nevada (the "Project"). After an unsuccessful mediation, on or about March 7, 2007, Vegas VP filed an arbitration demand with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") for architectural malpractice claims against WPH related to the Project.

On March 5, 2008 WPH submitted a statutory Offer of Judgment to Vegas VP in the amount of \$100,000 ("First Statutory Offer") pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115.² On April 17, 2008, WPH submitted another statutory Offer of Judgment to Vegas VP in the amount of \$200,001 ("Second Statutory Offer").³ Vegas VP did not accept *either* WPH's First Statutory Offer or Second Statutory Offer (collectively, "Statutory Offers").

A two-week arbitration took place before an AAA panel of arbitrators (the "Panel") and resulted in the Panel's January 6, 2009 Award of a complete defense verdict for WPH.⁴

Thereafter, WPH submitted to the Panel a Post-Award Motion for Costs, Attorney's Fees and Interest based on, among other things, the fact that WPH had previously served its Statutory Offers to Vegas VP, both of which were *rejected*.⁵ On February 13, 2009, the Panel denied WPH's Post-Award Motion.⁶

On April 7, 2009, WPH filed a motion in the Eighth Judicial District Court to, among other things, confirm in part, modify or correct the Award to order Vegas VP to pay WPH its

See NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115. See also NRS 38.238(1), which grants an arbitrator specific statutory authority to award attorney's fees and other reasonable expenses of arbitration, "if such an award is authorized by law in a civil action involving the same claim . . ."

² WPH's First Statutory Offer [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 2, Bates Nos. WPH 28-30.]

WPH's Second Statutory Offer [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 3, Bates Nos. WPH 32-34]
 Panel's Award [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 1, Bates Nos. WPH 8-26.]

⁵ See Affidavit of Jean A. Weil [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, ¶¶ 12-13, Bates No. WPH 3.]

⁶ Order Re: Post-Award Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 9, Bates Nos. WPH 177-82]

attorney's fees, costs and interest as a result of Vegas VP rejecting WPH's Statutory Offers.⁷ On May 8, 2009, Vegas VP filed an opposition.⁸ On May 11, 2009, WPH filed a reply.⁹

The Eighth Judicial District Court denied WPH's motion without a hearing and without explanation. Wegas VP was timely notified of the denial of WPH's first motion. The Notice of Entry of the District Court's first Order denying WPH's motion was served on July 24, 2009 and filed on July 27, 2009. However, the District Court failed to confirm the remainder of the Award pursuant to NRS 38.242(3), NRS 38.241(4) and NRS 38.242(2). Thereafter, WPH filed a motion to clarify the District Court's Order regarding confirmation of the Award. On or about July 17, 2009, the District Court granted WPH's motion to clarify and issued a second Order confirming the Award.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Metropolis Condominium Project

Vegas VP engaged WPH to perform architectural services for the Project pursuant to a written contract. The contract between WPH and Vegas VP is dated April 24, 2003

WPH's District Court Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab II, Bates Nos. WPH 459-77.]

⁸ Opposition to District Court Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab IV, Bates Nos. WPH 481-92.]

⁹ Reply Re: District Court Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab V, Bates Nos. WPH 493-501.] ¹⁰ Denial of District Court Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab VI, Bates No. WPH 502.]

¹¹ Notice of Entry of Order No. 1 [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab XII, Bates Nos. WPH 520-24.]

WPH's Motion to Clarify [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab VII, Bates Nos. WPH 504-09.]
After WPH's second motion was granted, proposed orders for both motions were sent to the District Court. The District Court executed the order granting WPH's second motion four days before the District Court executed the order denying WPH's first motion. See Order Granting Motion to Clarify [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab IX, Bates Nos. WPH 511-512.]

("Architectural Agreement"). ¹⁴ The Architectural Agreement provides: "This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the principal place of business of the Architect." WPH's principal place of business is Las Vegas, Nevada. ¹⁶

B. The Arbitration Proceedings and the Panel's Award

After an unsuccessful mediation, Vegas VP filed an arbitration demand with AAA for architectural malpractice claims against WPH related to the Project. A two-week arbitration hearing was held in Las Vegas, Nevada, from November 3, 2008 through November 14, 2008.¹⁷

In the arbitration, Vegas VP asserted that a portion of the change orders paid to the general contractor were the result of WPH's professional negligence due to errors and/or omissions in the architectural design documents. Vegas VP sought \$1,486,666 (subsequently revised to \$1,455,276) for 76 separate Change Proposal Requests ("CPR's"), which it asserted were attributable to and the responsibility of WPH.¹⁸

WPH asserted that it fulfilled all of its duties under the contract, performing at a level of acceptable standard of care based upon the contractual restraints that Vegas VP imposed. WPH further argued that Vegas VP's claims were barred by several contractual provisions and legal theories, including no breach of contract as WPH did not fall below the acceptable standard of care, the consequential damages waiver, the economic loss rule, and that the change orders

¹⁴ WPH Architectural Agreement[WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 11, Bates No. WPH 192-211]

¹⁵WPH Architectural Agreement[WPH Appendix, Vol.1a, Tab I, Exh.11, ¶ 9.1, Bates No. WPH203]

¹⁶ Declaration of Douglas Walton[WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 12, ¶ 2, Bates No. WPH 213]

¹⁷ See Affidavit of Jean A. Weil [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, ¶ 2, Bates No. WPH 2.]

¹⁸ See Affidavit of Jean A. Weil [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, ¶ 4, Bates No. WPH 2.]

¹⁹ See Panel's Award [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 1, ¶ 10, Bates No. WPH 13.]

constituted betterment/value added for Vegas VP.²⁰ During arbitration, multiple witnesses were called from Nevada. Further, throughout the entirety of the arbitration proceedings, including the prehearing, hearing, and post-hearing briefings, the parties and the Panel cited, relied upon and applied Nevada law, except when Nevada law was silent on a particular issue. Even the Panel's Award cites, relies upon, and applies Nevada law.

On January 8, 2009, the Panel issued its Award and found that WPH "did not fall below an acceptable level of professional care to be deemed negligent, or in breach of the contract." The Panel found that "WPH met is professional standard of care for the services rendered on this Project, whether based in a professional negligence claim or in a breach of contract claim." The Panel made the following orders: (1) that Vegas VP shall take nothing on its claim and judgment is awarded in favor of WPH; (2) the parties shall bear their own attorney's fees, expert fees, and own costs and expenses of the arbitration; and (3) the parties shall equally share in the fees and costs of the Arbitrators. ²³

C. WPH's Two Statutory Offers of Judgment

When the Panel issued its decision and Award on January 8, 2009, it did not know, nor could have known, that WPH had previously served two statutory Offers of Judgment to Vegas VP, both of which were rejected. (supra, p. 3, ln. 4-8.) Vegas VP did not accept either Offer, thus both were deemed rejected by operation of law.

²⁰ See Panel's Award [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 1, ¶ 11, Bates Nos. WPH 13-14.]

²¹ See Panel's Award [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 1, lns. 1-4, Bates No. WPH 19.]
²² See Panel's Award [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 1, lns. 3-5, Bates No. WPH 21.]

²³ See Panel's Award [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 1, Ins. 18-24, Bates No. WPH 21.]

D. WPH's Post-Award Motion for Costs, Attorney's Fees and Interest

On January 13, 2009, WPH submitted a Post-Award Motion for Costs, Attorney's Fees, and Interest Thereon pursuant to Nevada statutes, including NRS 18.020 (statute providing for award of costs to a prevailing party as a matter of right) and NRS 17.115 and NRCP 68 (Nevada's statutes governing statutory offers of judgment). On January 21, 2009, WPH submitted its operative Second Revised Motion for Costs, Attorneys' Fees, and Interest Thereon ("Post-Award Motion"), which differed from the original motion only by accounting for additional costs, attorneys' fees, and interest. In support of the Post-Award motion, WPH concurrently submitted the operative Second Revised Verified Memorandum of Costs,

On January 23, 2009, Vegas VP submitted its Opposition to WPH's Post-Award Motion.²⁷ On January 29, 2009, WPH submitted its Reply to Vegas VP's Opposition to WPH's Post-Award Motion.²⁸ Prior to ruling on WPH's Post-Award Motion, the Panel requested receipts, invoices and billing entries in support of the motion, which WPH immediately provided.²⁹ On February 6, 2009, WPH provided the Panel with a Supplemental Briefing in

²⁴ See Affidavit of Jean A. Weil [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, ¶¶ 12-13, Bates No. WPH 3.]

²⁵ *Id.*; See also WPH's Second Revised Post-Award Motion for Costs, Attorney's Fees and Interest Thereon [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 4, Bates Nos. WPH 36-89.]

²⁶ WPH's operative Second Revised Verified Memorandum of Costs, Disbursements and Allowable Interest [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 5, Bates Nos. WPH 91-94.]

Opp. to Post-Award Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 6, Bates Nos. WPH 96-101]
Reply Re: Post-Award Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 7, Bates No. WPH 103-66]

²⁹See Affidavit of Jean A. Weil[WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, ¶¶ 18 - 32 Bates Nos. WPH 3-5.]

support of its motion.³⁰

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

On February 13, 2009, the Panel issued an Order Denying WPH's Post-Award Motion (the "Panel's Order"). (*supra*, p. 3, ln. 13-14.) Notably, in denying WPH's Post-Award Motion, the Panel stated, "there are no documents which demonstrate that Nevada law would apply to this case. Put another away [sic], there was no decision made as to choice of law." The Panel then expressed its reluctance to grant WPH's Motion, because "in authorizing the use of offers of judgment in arbitration proceedings, the Nevada Supreme Court has not made a pronouncement in this area of law. It has likely not been confronted with such an issue. So, even though Nevada may be the proper state, WPH is without a remedy." So,

The Panel's Order further states that the Panel had no "express authority to grant fees and costs incidental to a declined offer of judgment" in the context of a private arbitration.³³ In the Panel's Order, the Panel specifically advised WPH that "the jurisdiction of this Panel is terminated," and WPH's remedy is "now with the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, In and For the County of Clark." The Panel's Order did not address WPH's request for costs pursuant to NRS 18.020.

E. WPH's Motion to the Eighth Judicial District Court for an Order Confirming in Part, Modifying or Correcting the Panel's Award

22

WEIL & DRAGE ATTORNEYS AT LAW A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION 6085 West Twain Ave. Suite 203 Las Vegas, NV 89103

³⁰ WPH's Supplemental Briefing [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 8, Bates Nos. WPH 168-75]

³¹ Order Re: Post-Award Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 9, lns. 16-17, Bates No. WPH 180.]

³²Order Re: Post-Award Motion[WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 9, ln. 1-3, Bates No. WPH 181]

³³Order Re: Post-Award Motion[WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 9, ln. 5-6, Bates No. WPH 181]

³⁴Order Re: Post-Award Motion [WPH Appendix, Vol. 1a, Tab I, Exh. 9, Ins. 25-27, Bates No. WPH 181.]

2 | oth
 3 | att
 4 | Of
 5 | file
 6 | June

On April 7, 2009, WPH filed a motion in the Eighth Judicial District Court to, among other things, confirm in part, modify or correct the Award to order Vegas VP to pay WPH its attorney's fees, costs and interest as a result of Vegas VP rejecting both of WPH's Statutory Offers ("District Court Motion"). (*supra*, p. 3, ln. 15- p. 4, ln. 2.) On May 8, 2009, Vegas VP filed an untimely opposition. (*Id.*) On May 11, 2009, WPH filed a reply. (*Id.*) The Eighth Judicial District Court denied WPH's motion without a hearing and without explanation. (*supra*, p. 4, ln. 3-10.) Thereafter, WPH filed a motion to clarify the District Court's Order regarding confirmation of the Award ("Motion to Clarify"). (*Id.*) Notice of Entry of the District Court's second Order granting WPH's Motion to Clarify was filed and served on July 23, 2009.³⁵

F. WPH's Appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court

On August 19, 2009, WPH filed a Notice of Appeal³⁶ and Case Appeal Statement³⁷ with the Supreme Court of Nevada appealing from the Eighth Judicial District Court's Order denying WPH's subject District Court Motion to confirm in part, modify or correct the Award. To the extent that the District Court's second Order confirming the remainder of the Award grants WPH standing to appeal, WPH appeals same. On January 27, 2010, this Court issued an Order Reinstating Briefing.³⁸

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Panel had the authority and jurisdiction to grant WPH's Post-Award Motion but

³⁵ Notice of Entry of Order No. 2 [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab XI, Bates Nos. WPH 515-19.]

³⁶ WPH's Notice of Appeal [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab XIII, Bates Nos. WPH 525-28.]

³⁷ WPH's Case Appeal Statement [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab XIV, Bates Nos. WPH 529-34.]

³⁸ Order Reinstating Briefing [WPH Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab XV, Bates No. WPH 535.]

failed to award WPH, as a matter of right, its attorney's fees, costs and interest pursuant to applicable Nevada law, including Nevada's offer of judgment statutes as set forth in NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115 and NRS 38.238(1), granting specific statutory authority to award attorney's fees and other reasonable expenses of arbitration. In doing so, the Panel exceeded its powers, arbitrarily and capriciously ignored the Architectural Agreement and manifestly disregarded the law in denying WPH's Post-Award Motion. The District Court had the authority to modify, correct, vacate and/or confirm in part the Arbitration Award pursuant to both statutory and common law but disregarded clear law by failing to modify, correct, vacate and/or confirm in part the Panel's Award to award WPH its attorney's fees and costs.

Nevada's offers of judgment statutes clearly apply to the arbitration proceedings. In fact, Nevada's offers of judgment statutes are substantive, and not merely procedural. However, the Panel was reluctant to grant WPH's motion without an express finding by this Court. If Vegas VP had instituted its dispute in Clark County District Court, NRCP 68 an NRS 17.115 clearly would have applied. Even if Vegas VP had instituted its dispute in federal court, NRCP and NRS would *still* have applied.

Thus, the Nevada Supreme Court should reverse the District Court's denial of WPH's District Court Motion, hold that NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115 apply to arbitration proceedings, and order that Vegas VP pay WPH its attorney's fees and costs as set forth herein, including all attorney's fees and costs incurred subsequent to the Panel's Award, during the District Court proceedings, in preparation of this Opening Brief and through final disposition of this appeal.

////

VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Arbitration Panel Had the Authority to Grant WPH's Post-Award Motion and Award WPH Its Attorney's Fees, Costs and Interest

1. Nevada State Law Clearly Applied to the Arbitration Proceedings

As mentioned above, the Panel, in describing its rationale for its Order denying WPH's Post-Award Motion, stated that "there was no decision made as to choice of law" for the dispute between WPH and Vegas VP during arbitration. (*supra*, p. 8, lns. 2-9.)

However, in its Order, the Panel agreed that (i) the subject project is located in Nevada, (ii) AAA determined that Nevada was the venue for the arbitration proceedings, (iii) more witnesses were called from Nevada than Texas or any other jurisdiction during the arbitration, and (iv) throughout the entirety of the arbitration proceedings, including the entire prehearing and hearing briefings, the parties and the Panel cited, relied upon and applied Nevada law. Even the Panel's Award cites, relies upon, and applies Nevada law. The Architectural Agreement expressly provides that the applicable law is that of the principal place of business of WPH, which in this case is Las Vegas, Nevada.

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