1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

3 Electronically Filed
4 Jun 11 2010 02:08 p.m.
5 Tracie K. Lindeman

4 WPH ARCHITECTURE, INC., A Nevada
5 Corporation,

6 Appellant,

7 vs.

8 VEGAS VP, LP, a Nevada Limited
9 Partnership,

9 Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 54389
District Court No. 587179 Dept. X

11
12
13
14 **ANSWERING BRIEF OF**
15 **RESPONDENT VEGAS VP, LP**

16 GREENBERG TRAURIG
17 TAMI D. COWDEN
18 Nevada Bar No. 8994
19 MARK E. FERRARIO
20 Nevada Bar No. 1625
21 3773 Howard Hughes Parkway
22 Suite 400 North
23 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
 Attorneys for Respondent Vegas VP, LP

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

ARGUMENT

WPH failed to present any grounds that would have supported the vacation of the Fee Decision. Its efforts to graft Nevada rules and statutes intending to encourage settlement before trials in the district courts to an arbitration proceeding

1 cannot justify the disregard of the Panel's well-articulated decision explaining the
2 numerous grounds for the denial of fees and costs to WPH. The parties had agreed
3 to the application of the AAA rules in the event of the dispute; such rules do not
4 provide for the "offer of judgment" process. Moreover, as there is no requirement
5 in Nevada that arbitrators award fees on the basis of rejection of an offer of
6 judgment, even if such rules could apply in that forum, a decision to decline to do
7 so is not a manifest disregard of the law. As WPH failed to show that grounds
8 existed to support the vacation of the Panel's decisions, the District Court's
9 judgment should be affirmed.

10 **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION**
11 **TO VACATE THE ARBITRATION AWARD.**

12 The District Court properly refused to vacate the Fee Decision. No grounds
13 that would support vacation of an arbitration ruling under Nevada law were
14 presented by WPH. In reviewing WPH's motion, the District Court was bound by
15 a fairly stringent standard of review. An arbitration award may be vacated only
16 for statutory grounds under NRS 38. 241, inapplicable here, or for common law
17 grounds. *Bohlman v. Printz*, 120 Nev. 543, 546, 96 P.3d 1155, 1157 (2004) . The
18 two common law grounds under which a court may review private binding
19 arbitration awards are (1) whether the award is arbitrary, capricious, or
20 unsupported by the agreement; and (2) whether the arbitrator manifestly
21 disregarded the law. *Wichinsky v. Mosa*, 109 Nev. 84, 89-90, 847 P.2d 727, 731
22 (1993). Neither of these grounds were present here. As there were no appropriate
23 grounds to overturn the arbitration Panel's decision, the District Court properly

1 denied the motion.

2 **A. The Award did not Reflect a Manifest Disregard for the**
3 **Law.**

4 “Manifest disregard of the law” means something more than just an error in
5 the law or a failure on the part of the arbitrators to understand or apply the law.”

6 *Lagstein v. Lloyd's of London*, __ F.3d __, 2010 WL2303317, *4 (June 10,
7 2010), quoting *Mich. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Unigard Sec. Ins. Co.*, 44 F.3d 826, 832 (9th
8 Cir. 1995). A manifest disregard of the law is shown where the arbitrator,
9 knowing the law and recognizing that the law required a particular result, simply
10 disregarded the law. *Clark County Educ. Ass'n v. Clark County School Dist*, 131
11 P.3d 5, 8 (Nev. 2006). Mere claims that Here, the Panel did not “know” or
12 “recognize” that the law required an award of fees and then disregard such a
13 requirement. To the contrary, the Panel first determined that whether Nevada law
14 even applied to the arbitration had never been decided or agreed by the parties.
15 Moreover, the Panel determined that, even assuming Nevada law applied, whether
16 it was entitled to award fees on the requested basis had never been determined
17 under Nevada law. The Panel further determined that absent an express
18 authorization, it was not inclined to award fees. Finally, the Panel noted that it had
19 not been asked to consider the issue of a fee award until after it had issued its final
20 award, and that such a modification did not fit within the scope of modifications
21 permitted under the AAA rules.

22 None of these multiple grounds for denial of a fee award could fall within
23 the scope of a manifest disregard of any legal mandates. To the contrary, they

1 reflect a careful consideration of what the law *authorized*, and a determination
2 that the Panel’s authority to award fees under the requested grounds was, at best,
3 questionable. WPH’s attempt to twist the rules governing arbitration to create a
4 mandate where none exists properly failed. The Fee Decision contains a well-
5 reasoned explanation for its outcome, which decision shows thoughtful analysis of
6 applicable arbitration rules, consideration of Nevada law, and the appropriate
7 application of each. WPH failed to demonstrate to the District Court any basis
8 upon which the decision might be vacated. Accordingly, the District Court
9 properly denied the request for partial vacation of the award.

10 ***1. Nevada law does not impose an obligation upon***
11 ***arbitrators to award fees and costs.***

12 At the heart of WPH’s motion to vacate lay a fundamental
13 misunderstanding of the effect of NRS 38.238. This statute provides:

14 Any arbitrator *may* award reasonable attorney’s fees and other
15 reasonable expenses of arbitration if such an award is authorized by
16 law in a civil action involving the same claim or by the agreement of
17 the parties to the arbitration proceeding.

18 NRS 38.238(1) (emphasis added). WPH relies upon this statute to insist that “the
19 Panel should have awarded WPH [its] costs, attorneys’ fees, and interest.”

20 However, this statute mandates nothing. Instead, by stating that an
21 arbitrator “may award fees,” the statute merely grants *permission* to arbitrators
22 to award fees under certain circumstances. See NRS 0.025 (explaining when used
23 in the NRS, “may” usually refers to a “right, privilege or power”). In contrast, no
language in the statute could be read to require any such award. Indeed, the use of
the term “may,” as opposed to “shall,” clearly indicates that the statute merely

1 confers, as a privilege, the ability to issue an award of fees and costs. *Tarango v.*
2 *SIIS*, 117 Nev. 444, 451 n. 20, 25 P.3d 175, 180 n. 20 (2001) (“ ‘[I]n statutes,
3 “may” is permissive and “shall” is mandatory unless the statute demands a
4 different construction to carry out the clear intent of the legislature.’ ” (quoting
5 *S.N.E.A. v. Daines*, 108 Nev. 15, 19, 824 P.2d 276, 278 (1992))).

6 Nothing in NRS 38.238 requires an arbitrator to impose fees or costs.
7 Accordingly, WPH’s assertion that the Panel “manifestly disregarded the law” by
8 failing to award fees is unsupported by Nevada law.

9 2. *The determination of an award of attorneys fees as*
10 *requested here was a matter of procedural, not substantive*
11 *law.*

12 Following the issuance of the Final Award, WPH proceeded with “post
13 trial” motions for fees and costs as though it had been engaged in a court
14 proceeding, rather than an arbitration proceeding. It sought costs as the
15 “prevailing party” with a vague reference “NRS 18.010 *et seq.*,” and costs and
16 fees pursuant to rejected offers of judgment. Such a course of conduct might have
17 been perfectly proper had the parties actually engaged in a *trial*, where the Court
18 retains jurisdiction after judgment for purposes of the award of fees and costs and
19 similar matters. However, as the Panel’s Fee Decision makes quite clear, an
20 AAA Arbitration Panel does not retain jurisdiction over a dispute for such
21 purposes.

22 Significantly, the parties agreed that the American Arbitration
23 Association’s Construction Industry Rules” (“AAA Rules”) would govern any
arbitration proceedings. **APP 1a:157, ¶ 7.2.2.** For this reason, WPH’s insistence

1 regarding Nevada law governing the contract is nothing more than a red herring.
2 Under Nevada law, the AAA Rules must be applied to determine the issue. This is
3 because in Nevada, a choice of law provision in an agreement applies “to the
4 substantive issues in the case,” while the forum’s rules governs procedural issues.
5 *Tipton v. Heeren*, 109 Nev. 920, 859 P.2d 465, 466 n. 3 (1993).

6 Even more significantly, this Court expressly ruled in *Tipton* that whether
7 attorneys fees should be granted due to the rejection of an offer of judgment is a
8 procedural determination. *Id.* In *Tipton*, this Court expressly determined that
9 Nevada law applied to the *procedural* issue of the propriety of awarding fees
10 where a more favorable offer of judgment had been rejected. Indeed, this Court
11 expressly determined that NRCP 68 and NRS 78.115 – the very statutes WPH
12 claims create substantive rights, were procedural. Despite having devoted nearly
13 two pages of its Opening Brief to this issue, with extensive citation to out of state
14 authority, WPH failed to acknowledge this Court’s decision in *Tipton*.

15 **3. *WPH’s attempt to graft Nevada procedural rules on to***
16 ***arbitration proceedings is not supported by the applicable***
arbitration rules.

17 Having agreed to the application of the AAA Rules, WPH was bound by
18 them. Pursuant to the AAA Rules, while the parties may agree to a modification
19 of such rules, such agreement must be in writing; additionally, if an agreement is
20 made after the appointment of the arbitrator, the arbitrator must consent to the
21 modification. **AAA Rules, R-1, APP 2:491.**⁴ There is no evidence of such a
22

23 ⁴ The AAA Rules were amended effective October 1, 2009. The current (2009) AAA
Rules are available online at <http://www.adr.org/sp.asp?id=22004>, with an explanation of

1 modification in this matter.

2 Further, the Panel had the express authority to determine its own
3 jurisdiction and to interpret the AAA rules. **See *Id.*, R-8, R-54.** The AAA Rules
4 further provide that an arbitrator *may* grant any relief within the scope of the
5 agreement, and *shall* apportion fees, costs, and the arbitrator's own compensation
6 in the final award. ***Id.*, R-44(c).** However, the Panel's jurisdiction after the
7 issuance of an award is limited to correction of "any clerical, typographical,
8 technical or computational errors." **AAA Rules, R-47, APP 2:491.**
9 Furthermore, the AAA Rules *require* the parties to share expenses equally, unless
10 an award of costs is contained *in the award itself*. ***Id.*, R -44(c), R- 51.**

11 WPH's attempt to modify the final award by adding awards for fees and
12 costs, whether as prevailing party or arising from rejected offers of judgment, was
13 simply not permissible by the procedural rules of the agreed forum – as the Panel
14 found. Such a determination was within the properly within the Panel's authority
15 to determine. *See Lagstein v. Lloyd's of London*, __ F.3d __, 2010 WL2303317,
16 *6 (June 10, 2010) (arbitrators had authority to determine their own ability to
17 award punitive damages following initial decision). Moreover, disagreement with
18 the determination does not warrant court interference. *Id.*

19 Here, the AAA Rules assumes that requests for fees will be made as part of
20 the case-in-chief, allowing a panel to include such issues in the final award. Here,
21 however, as the Panel pointed out, WPH made no mention of fees until after the

22 the amendments available at <http://www.adr.org/sp.asp?id=36626>. The record reflects
23 the rules in effect at the time of the arbitration.

1 final award had been issued.

2 Accordingly, the parties are bound to the Panel's decision. The Panel
3 determined that an award of fees was not warranted on several grounds. In
4 addition to questioning its ability to award fees pursuant to an offer of judgment,
5 the Panel determined that the AAA rules did not allow such a modification of the
6 Final Award. There is no basis to assert that this ruling was a manifest disregard
7 of the law. Accordingly, the Panel's decision should be confirmed in whole.

8 **4. *The grant of permission to award fees refers to substantive,***
9 ***rather than procedural authority.***

10 Even if NRS 38.238 could be considered to *require* imposition of an award
11 of fees where fees are available for the type of civil action pursued in the
12 arbitration, an award of fees would not be appropriate here. Aside from agreement
13 of the parties, the statute requires that fees be an entitlement based on the
14 *substantive nature* of the claim. See NRS 38.238, "An arbitrator may award
15 attorneys fees . . . if such an award is authorized by law in a civil action *involving*
16 *the same claim*" (emphasis added).

17 The official comments to Uniform Arbitration Act, § 21, on which NRS
18 38.238 was based, supports this conclusion. See ULA Arb, § 21, Comment 2
19 ("[S]tatutes such as those involving civil rights, employment discrimination,
20 antitrust, and others, specifically allow courts to order attorney's fees in
21 appropriate cases."). Reference to areas of law where statutes often require an
22 award of attorneys fees for successful claimants indicates that NRS 38.238 refers
23 to such

1 In contrast, the statutes and rules cited by WPH are procedural, rather than
2 substantive rules. *See e.g. Tipton v. Heeren*, 109 Nev. 920, 859 P.2d 465, 466 n. 3
3 (1993) (treating these statutes as requiring a procedural inquiry); *MRO*
4 *Communications, Inc. v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.* 197 F.3d 1276, 1282 (9th Cir.
5 1999) (whether a rejected offer of judgment entitles the offeror to recover
6 attorneys' fees . . . is a “procedural query”). The rules of the forum apply to
7 procedural matters. *Id.* Accordingly, even if Nevada were the proper choice of
8 law for the substantive issues raised in the dispute between VEGAS VP and WPH,
9 the Panel properly applied the AAA rules to determine that fees and costs were
10 appropriately shared between the parties. As the Panel’s decision was proper, so to
11 was that of the District court.

12 5. ***The Panel determined that WPH was not a prevailing party,***
13 ***and therefore, no award of fees would be appropriate under***
NRS 18.020.

14 WPH contends that it should have been awarded fees under NRS 18.020,
15 which allows fees to the prevailing party in an action where the plaintiff sought to
16 recover more than \$2500. However, even assuming this statute applied to this
17 arbitration proceeding, where both parties prevail in competing breach of contract
18 claims, it is within the discretion of the decision maker to determine that neither
19 party was the prevailing party. *Robertson's Marine, Inc. v. I4 Solutions, Inc.*, 223
20 P.3d 1141 (Utah App. 2010); *Gen. Cable Corp. v. Citizens Utilities Co.*, 27
21 Ariz.App. 381, 385, 555 P.2d 350, 354 (1976) (“Under the facts of this case,
22 where a complaint seeks greater damages than the counterclaim and the trial court
23 has denied relief to both parties, we find that neither party is the ‘successful party’

1 under the provisions of § 12-341.”); *see also Coldwell Banker Commercial Group,*
2 *Inc. v. Camelback Office Park*, 156 Ariz. 214, 223-24, 751 P.2d 530, 539-40
3 (App.1987) (finding it possible to have no successful party when one party
4 prevails on complaint and other party prevails on counterclaim), *vacated in part*
5 *on other grounds*, 156 Ariz. 226, 751 P.2d 542 (1988).

6 WPH brought, but did not prevail on, several counterclaims. **Final**
7 **Decision, APP 1a:11.** Indeed, those counterclaims were dismissed prior to the
8 hearing. *Id.* Accordingly, it was within the scope of the Panel’s authority to
9 determine, as it apparently did, that WPH would not be considered the prevailing
10 party in the case. **Fee Decision, App. 1a:177-182.**⁵ Accordingly, even if the
11 parties’ express agreement to apply the AAA Rules to the proceeding could
12 somehow be overridden by NRS 18.020, WPH still had no entitlement under the
13 statute.

14 **B. The Award was not Arbitrary, Capricious, or**
15 **Unsupported by the Agreement.**

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